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Summary
The Company
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (“AOF” or the “Company”) is a Cayman Islands incorporated closed-end investment
company traded on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. Its net asset value on 31 December 2012 was
US$41.1 million and its market capitalisation was US$32.4 million.

Investing objective
The investing objective of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is to achieve capital growth and
income through investments in value, arbitrage, and special situations opportunities derived from the continent of Africa.
Therefore, the Group may invest in securities issued by companies domiciled outside Africa which conduct significant
business activities within Africa or, if listed, listed either on an African stock exchange or a non-African stock exchange.
The Group may invest in equity, quasi-equity or debt instruments, debt issued by African sovereign states and government
entities, and real estate interests.
The Directors and Africa Opportunity Partners Limited (the “Manager”) believe that the diversity and volatility of
African economies present opportunities to earn attractive returns when investments are made selectively, across asset
classes, and without pre-determined benchmarks or allocations.
By balancing the size and type of investment, the Directors and the Manager believe that attractive returns may be made
across asset classes. Whilst the African capital markets can be volatile, by ensuring diversity of investment across industries
and countries, the Manager attempts to mitigate such risks.
The Group targets industries rather than countries to exploit valuation discrepancies which can arise among African
countries. The Directors and the Manager also believe that Africa’s status as a continent containing a large number of
reforming countries provides investment opportunities in those countries.

Summary of Investment Strategy
The Group’s investment strategy is opportunistic. The Group invests primarily where and when the Manager believes that
investments can be made at a material discount to the Manager’s estimate of an investment’s intrinsic value.
Company preference. The Group prefers companies which demonstrate both high real returns on assets and an earnings
yield higher than the yield to maturity of local currency denominated government debt.
Industry focus rather than country focus. The Group seeks to invest in industries it finds attractive with little regard to
national borders.
Natural resource discounts. The Group seeks natural resource companies whose market valuations reflect a discount to
the spot and future world market prices for those natural resources.
“Turnaround” countries. The African continent is home to a large number of reforming or “turnaround” countries.
“Turnaround” countries combine secular political reform with the opening of industries to private sector participation.
Balkanized investment landscape. The Group seeks to invest in companies with low valuations in relation to peers across
the continent and uses an arbitrage approach to provide attractive investment returns.
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Point of entry. The Group seeks the most favourable risk adjusted point of entry into a capital structure, whether through
financing the establishment of a new company or acquiring the debt or listed equity of an established company.
The Company intends to be a passive investor and will generally not control or seek to control or be actively involved in
the management of any company or business in which it invests.

Investment Policies and Restrictions
The Manager adheres to the following policies and restrictions:
Geographical focus. The Group makes investments in companies or assets with a material portion of their value derived
from or located in Africa. The geographic mix of investments varies over time depending on the relative attractiveness of
opportunities among countries and regions.
Type of investment. The Group may invest in real estate interests, equity, quasi-equity or debt instruments, which may
or may not represent shareholding or management control, and debt issued by African sovereign states and government
entities. Investments may be made directly or through special purpose vehicles, joint venture, nominee or trust structures.
The Group may utilise derivative instruments to hedge certain market or currency risks and may from time to time engage
in the short sale of securities.
Investment size. At the time of investment, no single investment may exceed 15 per cent of the Net Asset Value
without the prior approval of the Board. No one initial investment will exceed 20 per cent of the Net Asset Value at
the time of investment.
Number of investments. The Group has, and expects to maintain, a concentrated portfolio of approximately 10 to 20
investments, excluding money market investments.
Borrowing. The Group may use overdraft and other short-term borrowing facilities to satisfy short-term working capital
needs, including to meet any expenses or fees payable by the Group. The Manager anticipates that borrowings may be utilised
for investment purposes with the prior approval of the Board. There are no limits on the Group’s ability to leverage itself.
Cash management. Cash will be placed in bank deposits, investment grade commercial paper, government and corporate
bonds and treasury bills, in each case, of US and African issuers.

Distribution policy
The Directors will determine the Company’s dividend policy. Subject to having sufficient cash resources available for the
purpose, the Company is currently intending to pay an aggregate annual dividend of an amount equal to the product of
Net Asset Value on 1 January in each year multiplied by the one year US Dollar LIBOR rate (as derived from Bloomberg)
on the same date, which amount will be payable in four equal quarterly installments in March, June, September and
December of that year.

Life of the Company
The Company does not have a fixed life, but the Directors consider it desirable that its shareholders should have the
opportunity to review the future of the Company at appropriate intervals. The Directors will convene a general meeting
in 2014 where a resolution will be proposed that the Company will continue in existence. If the resolution is not passed,
the Directors will be required to formulate proposals to be put to shareholders to reorganise, reconstruct or wind up the
Company. If the resolution is passed, the Company will continue its operations and a similar resolution will be put to
shareholders every five years thereafter.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Chairman’s Statement

2012 Review
2012 was a buoyant year for world markets and a somewhat muted year for the Africa Opportunity Fund Ltd (the “Fund”
or “AOF”). AOF ‘s audited net asset value generated a 4.4% return, including dividends, while the share price of AOF
declined 10.4%.
To provide some basis for comparison, in Africa South Africa rose 21%, Nigeria rose 45%, Kenya rose 34%, and Egypt
rose 37%. In non-African emerging markets, China rose 7%, Brazil fell 2%, Russia rose 15%, and India rose 18%. In
developed markets, Japan rose 25%, the US rose 16%, and the UK rose 9%.1
At the end of the year 85% of the portfolio was in equities and 15% was in cash and bonds, a further shift towards equities
that has been underway since 2011. While it is frustrating to underperform several African indices, it is also the first year
of underperformance after several years of outperformance. Most important, most of the portfolio companies in which
AOF is invested made significant operational progress during the year and hold attractive return prospects. Sonatel, for
example, increased its subscribers by 26% while earning a 54% Ebitda margin. Following on years of steady operational
improvements, Okomu Palm Oil announced an intention to double its palm oil milling capacity from 30 tonnes per hour
to 60 tonnes per hour in 2014.

Outlook
As discussed previously, our primary investment focus remains identifying goods and services which consumers will
demand regardless of domestic political or economic conditions. Our concerns that commodity investments may
represent a derivative of China’s aggregate demand have served us well, as mining shares have suffered significantly. If only
we had eliminated mining investments altogether shareholders would have benefited further. On a happier note, AOF
recently built significant holdings in the insurance sector and these have performed superbly.
It has been conventional investing wisdom for investors to seek high returns in Africa to compensate for high levels of
volatility and risk. Yet, economies require reasonably priced equity and debt capital to experience rapid growth. Those
African economies striving to reduce the degree of uncertainty experienced by investors are likely to be rewarded with
lower costs of equity and debt capital. One of the simplest and most effective ways to assess whether uncertainty is
increasing or decreasing is in the methods used for resolving national electoral disputes. Are disputes handled in a court
of law or by methods of violence? Resort to peaceful means of resolving electoral disputes is a proxy for respect for the
rule of law. In that regard, countries like Ghana which use the courts to settle heated electoral disputes are beacons of an
improving Africa. Growing numbers of well educated members of Africa’s middle class tend to live in those countries. For
the investor, lengthening vistas of predictability and peace in a country justify a lower cost of capital for that country.
It is worth reiterating that, to investors in Africa, fiscal imbalances and currency depreciations are a feature of
everyday life. It is far from axiomatic that local currency-denominated governmental promises or debt instruments
should be revered as risk-free obligations. Care and caution are required, especially as emerging market currencies
globally are on a weakening trend. But business can flourish despite these factors and in Africa this has been more
the rule than the exception.

1

Reference Indexes are calculated in US dollars using : Nigeria NSE Index, South Africa Allshare, Nairobi NSE Index, Egypt Hermes Index, Russia
MICEX Index, Brazil IBOV Index, the Shanghai composite index, the India SENSEX Index, the S&P 500, the FTSE 100, and the Nikkei 225.

4

AOF Annual Report and Accounts

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)

We remain excited about the attractive opportunities available to us today and optimistic about AOF’s prospects. In
closing, as always, we thank our shareholders for their support and partnership.

Robert C. Knapp
Chairman
June 2013
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Manager’s Report

The Fund’s major theme of 2012 was increasing its exposure to African equity securities. The end-of-year allocation of
85% in equities was the largest since the inception of the Fund. At year-end, the Fund had $36.9 million in equity
securities, $5.2 million invested in debt securities, $3.6 million in cash; and derivative and short sale liabilities equal to
$4.5 million. Its underlying end-of-year holdings were in Botswana, Cote d’Ivoire, the Democratic Republic of Congo,
the Republic of Congo, Egypt, Ghana, Nigeria, Senegal, South Africa, Zambia, and Zimbabwe. Our lodestar for
measuring the Fund’s portfolio is our estimate of its appraisal value per share. That somewhat subjective estimate measures
the Manager’s view of the long-term attractiveness of the portfolio. It was $1.27 per share at the end of 2012, in
comparison to a closing price of $0.76 and a 2011 appraisal value per share of $1.16.
Overall, 2012 was a challenging year for the Fund, insofar as the total return was less than most African regional indices
like the Dow Jones Africa Titans Top 40 Index. At the same time, as active managers we do not seek to beat any particular
index but rather look for superior value while minimizing risk. It is inevitable that we will experience periods of
under-performance, but so long as we outperform the relevant benchmarks over the long term then we will be satisfied.
2012 saw a rise in interest in Africa as an investment destination by the global institutional investment community. The
most dramatic illustration of this new trend was evident in the African sovereign debt market. Zambia received $12 billion
of bids for a maiden $500 million sovereign debt issue. It ended up issuing $750 million of debt in that issue in 2012. The
yields in the secondary market for US Dollar denominated debt of African issuers like Gabon, Ghana, and Nigeria fell to
record lows - below 3% for Gabon US Dollar denominated sovereign debt due 2017, as an example. Global emerging
market funds, several Africa funds, and other institutional investors evinced a strong interest in the securities of the larger
and more liquid African companies, especially when they appeared cheaper than other emerging market peers. Heineken’s
subsidiary, Nigerian Breweries, illustrates this phenomenon by trading today at a P/E ratio of 33 despite pedestrian revenue
and profit results. Furthermore, the Kenyan, Egyptian, and Nigerian markets were recovering from steep declines in 2011.
Thus, the bigger African stock markets – South Africa, Nigeria, Kenya, and Egypt – had excellent returns.
AOF’s hunt for bargains led it away from those large and liquid issues. There were two other factors behind our modest
exposure to markets like Egypt and Kenya. Both the Kenyan Shilling and Egyptian Pound seemed susceptible to sudden
and sharp depreciation: because of the high budget deficits, as a percentage of gross domestic product, and disappearing
foreign exchange reserves in the case of Egypt; and high current account deficit, as a percentage of gross domestic product,
of Kenya in 2011 and 2012. Consequently, exporters or companies with earnings likely to be resilient in US Dollar were
our preference as investment targets. Few of them, however, had profitability measures that met our standards.
Nevertheless, we continue to look for investment opportunities in those markets.
The biggest disappointment of 2012 came from the bankruptcy of Great Basin Gold (“GBG”). We devoted several
paragraphs to GBG in last year’s annual report. Our hope that it would increase production at the Burnstone Mine
in South Africa proved misplaced. A brief recapitulation is in order. GBG provided 2012 production guidance of
6,000 ounces in Q1 2012 ramping up to approximately 34,000 ounces in Q4. The actual outcome was 6,671 ounces in
Q1 and 6,392 ounces in Q2, a shortfall which led to a liquidity squeeze and the rapid collapse of its shares. This collapse
occurred in the face of assurances by management that it would meet its production guidance. In short, we suspect the
management was at the very least negligent. We will not ever know for certain, and we will always seek every precaution
to avoid such an outcome, but it is an unfortunate reality with investing anywhere in the world that mistakes will happen.
In our self-assessment afterwards we acknowledge that these sorts of mistakes are more common with mining enterprises,
and we will be less likely to pursue them in the future. With some chagrin, we recall the quote attributed to Mark Twain
that “a gold mine is a hole in the ground owned by a liar”.
It is time to turn to more pleasant developments of 2012. Our best investment last year was in the equity of Nigeria based
Okomu Oil PLC (“Okomu”), which enjoyed a total return of 110%. Okomu operates palm oil and rubber plantations,
and since the end of 2012 its share price has appreciated by an additional 30%. We expect that Okomu’s earnings in 2013
will be materially lower than its earnings in 2012. Both palm oil and rubber prices have been weak since Q3, 2012.
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Manager’s Report (cont’d)

Nevertheless, we continue to like Okomu because the productivity of its existing stock of trees will rise as it matures and
Okomu is expanding its plantation area under cultivation. Despite the enormous rally, Okomu remains an attractive
investment for the Fund.
Another source of satisfying returns in 2012 was Standard Chartered Bank Ghana (“Standard Chartered”). Its life in the
AOF portfolio exemplifies some of the conundrums of investing in Africa, as well as our constant search for the best
African operators in specific industries endowed with business models that can withstand dramatic inflationary outbursts
or currency collapses. AOF started buying in January 2010. By the end of 2011, it had acquired 65% of its closing 2012
position. AOF acquired the balance of its Standard Charted holdings in the second half of 2012. AOF had an unrealized
loss of 17% on its closing 2011 position when it started adding to its Standard Chartered holdings in 2012. Most of that
loss was from the decline of the Ghana Cedi as government bonds soared to 24% yields despite a Ghanaian inflation rate
of 9%. For us, a Cedi-denominated risk-free rate of 24% implied that only Ghanaian companies with earnings yields of
24% or higher (corresponding to Price/Earnings ratios of 4.2X or lower) were suitable investment targets. Yet, at the end
of July, Standard Chartered traded on a P/E ratio of 11.3X (corresponding to an earnings yield of 8.9%) and, even worse
from a valuation perspective, a Price/Book ratio of 3.7X. Despite its alluring financial metrics - a 33% return on equity,
a 4% return on assets, a 17% capital adequacy ratio, and a 43% cost-to-income ratio - it did not appear to fit our screening
criteria. Furthermore, other Ghanaian banks, and banks in other African markets like Mauritius, Kenya, and Nigeria
appeared to be cheaper than Standard Chartered. Banks listed on the Kenyan and Nigerian markets had the additional
virtues arising from the superior size and liquidity of their markets when compared to the size and liquidity of the Ghana
Stock Exchange, plus declining nominal interest rates to ignite those markets. However, there were some other facts
suggesting that Standard Chartered did indeed fit our screening criteria.
The first fact was that Standard Chartered had a record of growing its earnings per share, over time, in US Dollars, despite
dramatic collapses of the Cedi. It’s US Dollar denominated earnings and dividends per share rose 429% and 1,062%
respectively between 1992 and 2011, despite the Cedi depreciating by 4,357% against the US Dollar over the same
period. That long-term record suggested that Standard Chartered’s business model was hedged against the risk of a
collapsing Cedi. The second fact was that the Ghana government had an outstanding medium-term US Dollar
denominated government bond - its 8.5% 10/04/2017 bond. It was priced to yield 5.5% at the end of July 2012. That
pricing for that US dollar denominated Ghana government issue could be interpreted to mean that the subset of Ghanaian
companies with a history, and ability, of maintaining or increasing their earnings in US Dollars deserved to be valued
against that Dollar-denominated bond rather than the Cedi-denominated government bonds. An earnings yield of 5.5%
suggested maximum P/E ratios of 18X. By that measure, Standard Chartered fell within our screening criteria. Better still,
its financial metrics were superior to those of banks in almost all other African markets. Best of all, at 14% in real or
inflation-adjusted terms in 2012, Ghanaian banks had one of the most lucrative markets in which to earn interest income
anywhere in the world. While Ghana’s leading financial analysts advised clients to refrain from adding to their Standard
Chartered Bank holdings, we resumed our purchases of Standard Chartered.
The 2012 results of Standard Chartered were announced in late February. They exceeded our expectations: a return on
equity of 50% on a leverage ratio of 7.5%, a cost-to-income ratio of 37%, and a return on assets of 6%. In US Dollar
terms, Standard Chartered’s after tax profits rose 51%, after accounting for the 16% depreciation of the Cedi against the
US Dollar in 2012. In addition, its non-interest income alone exceeded its entire operating or noninterest expenses. Put
another way, Standard Chartered in 2012 combined the income statement of a property and casualty insurance company
generating underwriting profits with the leverage ratios of a commercial bank. Net interest income, after credit losses, fell
straight to its bottom line and its shareholders. There are two noteworthy features of Standard Chartered’s business model:
low branch maintenance costs because it has a modest national network of only 23 branches; and high non-interest
income as a percentage of its net interest income. Non-interest income equaled 66% of net interest income in 2012. We
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are confident that Standard Chartered Bank’s current profitability ratios represent a plateau of some sort. Growing
competition is the ineluctable reward for such results. There can be little doubt, though, that Standard Chartered will
remain an excellent bank.
Our review of 2012 would be incomplete without a discussion of the Fund’s holding of Shoprite. The possibility of
litigation about AOF’s Shoprite shares which we mentioned briefly in last year’s annual report is becoming a certainty.
Shoprite has conveyed to us its intention to seek to reverse the allegedly unauthorized trades in its shares. In its briefest
form, we bought shares on the Lusaka Stock Exchange via open market purchases only to learn later that some of the
shares sold were apparently treasury shares of Shoprite. The Company now claims its shares should not have been sold
and that we should have known better than to buy them. The argument to us is absurd. Anonymity is a cornerstone of
stock market trading and we had no knowledge of the identities of the different sellers of Shoprite shares. Furthermore,
it is one thing to know that Shoprite is the seller of shares in Zambia (which we did not); it is another thing, totally
unrelated, to deduce from that knowledge that the seller of Shoprite shares is allegedly engaged in unauthorized or
fraudulent transactions. We cannot think of any reason why we should have suspected, let alone known, as reasonable
stock market traders, that Shoprite was a victim of such transactions. Apparently Shoprite has a claim against its agent;
however, based on legal advice obtained from Zambian, South African, and English counsel, we believe any claims against
AOF will be successfully defended. To date nothing has been filed at Court by Shoprite though we have been advised by
Shoprite that the filing of court papers is imminent. We believe that our title to the Shoprite shares is valid and that we
will be able to rebut the arguments that we believe are being advanced by Shoprite. In the meantime, unsurprisingly,
Shoprite’s conduct has had the effect of discouraging trading of Shoprite shares in Zambia and harming the interests of
legitimate shareholders like AOF. We will take all steps in our power to defend any legal action that may possibly be taken
by Shoprite against AOF and to recover any losses that may arise as a result of Shoprite’s conduct.
The remainder of this report comprises commentary on two of the Fund’s largest equity investments and a restatement
of the Manager’s investment philosophy.
Sonatel. This Senegalese integrated telephone operator listed on the Bourse Regionale de Valeurs Mobiliers is the
Fund’s largest investment. Sonatel has operations in Senegal, Mali, Guinea, and Guinea-Bissau. It has 100% of
Senegal’s fixed line market and 63% of Senegal’s overall telephony market, 64% of Mali’s mobile telephony market,
34% of Guinea’s mobile telephony market, and 39% of the mobile telephony market in Guinea-Bissau. Despite
the civil war which erupted in Mali in 2012, Sonatel’s subscribers grew by 26% in 2012 to 18.3 million. At 23%
for the 2012 financial year, Sonatel’s net margin remains among the highest in Africa. Sonatel’s impressive growth
in subscriber numbers, coupled with the 7.6% depreciation in the average rate of the CFA Franc against the
US Dollar in 2012 versus 2011 exacted a cost through a decline in operating cash flow per telephone subscriber
from $50 to $39. Free cash flow per subscriber, after capital expenditure, remained flat at $24. Measures of Sonatel’s
profitability and financial sobriety continue to be exemplary: a debt to equity ratio of 4%, a debt to total assets ratio
of 3%; and a return on average equity of 29%. Yet, as of March 27, 2013, with an enterprise value around
$2.9 billion and a market capitalization of $3.1 billion, Sonatel had one of the cheaper African telephone operator
valuations with a PE ratio of 11.7X and an enterprise value per subscriber of $159.
African Bank. African Bank Investments Limited (“ABIL”) is the largest consumer finance company in South Africa
and Africa. It is the holding company for African Bank (“African Bank”), a bank, and Ellerines Brothers, a furniture
retailing company. Its subsidiaries grant unsecured loans to individuals and sell furniture and various electronic
household appliances. Its customers are members of the emerging middle class and its average loan size is
12,650 Rands (or $1,509). It turns out that 2012 was a year of bad publicity for ABIL. Consumer finance
companies were accused of gouging striking miners. In some quarters, they were cited as a factor behind the terrible
Marikana strikes. To compound its publicity woes, South Africa’s National Credit Regulator accused it of reckless
lending in early February 2013 in a case where African Bank was the victim of a fraud committed by its customers
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and a few of its employees. All the while ABIL continued to make loans and operate its business. ABIL’s funding
strategy is rare. It funds itself long term to make loans of shorter duration. As of Sept 30, 2012, its ratio of tangible
shareholders equity to tangible assets declined from 17.3% in 2011 to 15.2%. Its tier 1 capital adequacy ratio
declined also from 23.2% to 21.4%. Those high capital ratios permit African Bank to incur high non-performing
loans and bad debts in its market. African Bank has strong liquidity ratios, with maturing liabilities at any one time
being half of maturing assets. ABIL’s return on average assets declined from 5.1% in 2011 to 4.5% in 2012. But,
its return on average equity increased from 18% to 20% and its return on average tangible equity was 36%. ABIL
had a market capitalization on March 27 of $2.63 billion. It traded on a PE ratio of 8.9X, a Price/Book ratio of
1.7X, and a Price/Tangible Book of 2.8X.
We end with a statement of our investing philosophy. The key elements of the investment strategy for the Fund are:
Material discounts to intrinsic value: The Fund invests primarily where and when an investment can be made at
a material discount to the Manager’s estimate intrinsic value.
Company preference: The Fund prefers companies which demonstrate both high real returns on assets and an
earnings yield higher than the yield to maturity of local currency denominated government debt.
Industry focus rather than country focus: The Fund seeks to invest in industries it finds attractive with little regard
to national borders.
National resource discounts: The Fund seeks natural resource companies whose market valuations reflect a
discount to the spot and future world market prices for those natural resources.
“Turnaround” countries: The African continent is home to a large number of reforming or “turnaround”
countries. “Turnaround” countries combine secular political reform with the opening of industries to private
sector participation.
Balkanized investment landscape: The Fund seeks to invest in companies with low valuations in relation to peers
across the continent and uses an arbitrage approach to provide attractive investment returns.
Point of entry: The Fund seeks the most favorable risk adjusted point of entry into a capital structure, whether
through financing a new company or acquiring the debt or listed equity of an established company.
Africa offers several attractive investment opportunities. The Fund’s own portfolio of undervalued companies exemplifies
Africa’s appeal. As of the end of March 2013, AOF’s combined top 10 holdings juxtaposed high operational returns with
low valuation ratios, signifying strong earning power. Those holdings had a weighted average dividend yield of 5.7%, a
P/E ratio of 7.5X, a return on assets of 13%, and a return on equity of 27%. We remain interested in industries which
have products in short supply in Africa that rely more on the domestic African demand than the global growth. We are
hunting in those terrains for compelling equity investments. We shall continue to build a portfolio that delivers both
capital growth and income to the shareholders of the Fund.

Francis Daniels
Africa Opportunity Partners
June 2013
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Portfolio review
(1% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2012

Issuer

Market Value
US$
8,105,292

% of NAV

Sonatel

4,954,376

12.07

Okomu Oil Palm PLC

4,524,022

11.02

Enterprise Group Ltd

2,875,861

7.00

African Bank Investments Ltd

2,407,512

5.86

Sea Trucks Group CB 10% 2015

2,115,750

5.15

Standard Chartered Bank Ghana

1,904,284

4.64

Societe des Caoutchoucs de Grand-Bereby

1,454,315

3.54

Letshego

1,390,509

3.39

SAPH - Societe Africaine de Plantations d’Heveas

1,343,900

3.27

Bayport Management 13% 11/19/15

1,124,433

2.74

Old Mutual PLC

1,050,186

2.56

Mashonaland Holdings Ltd

928,902

2.26

Triton Logging Inc.

881,249

2.15

Tizir Ltd 9% 09/28/2017

701,169

1.71

Copperbelt Energy Corporation plc

662,615

1.61

Zimplats Holdings

598,539

1.46

Pallinghurst Resources Ltd

588,161

1.43

Pearl Properties

578,665

1.41

Great Basin Gold Ltd 8% 11/30/14 CB

535,804

1.31

Continental Reinsurance Plc

457,928

1.12

Tanzania Breweries

446,328

1.09

Kosmos Energy Limited

444,600

1.08

(670,501)

(1.63)

iShare South Africa Index Fund

(1,226,900)

(2.99)

Shoprite Holdings - SA register

(1,995,733)

(4.86)

3,633,587

8.85

Shoprite Holdings – Zambia register

Kumba Iron Ore

Cash
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Portfolio review
(Strategy and geography graphs)
as at 31 December 2012 (cont’d)

Strategy
Cash
2%

Debt
13%

Equity
85%

Geography Exposure
Other
10%

Botswana
4%

Zimbabwe
6%

Ghana
16%

Ivory Coast
8%
Zambia
22%
Nigeria
18%
South Africa
2%
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
(2% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2012 (cont’d)

SHOPRITE HOLDINGS LTD (Zambia Register)
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Lusaka Stock Exchange, Zambia
SHP ZL
570.6 million
35.4 trillion ZMK=57.7 billion ZAR
www.shopriteholdings.co.za
US$3,639,685
US$8,105,292
South African investment holding company with subsidiaries operating in the
supermarket, produce distribution, furniture retailing and property holding industries in
16 countries.

SONATEL
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Bourse Regionale de Valuers Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
SNTS BC
100 million
1.5 trillion CFA Francs
www.sonatel.sn
US$6,579,958
US$4,954,376
Fixed line and mobile telephony services in Senegal, Mali, and neighbouring countries.

OKOMU OIL PALM PLC
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Nigerian Stock Exchange
OKOMUOIL NL
953.9 million
40.5 billion NGN
www.okomuoilplc.net
US$2,024,244
US$4,524,022
Nigerian oil palm and rubber plantations operator.

ENTERPRISE GROUP LTD
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Ghana Stock Exchange
EGL GN
127.8 million
61.3 million GHS
www.enterprisegroup.net.gh
US$3,251,253
US$2,875,861
Property and casualty insurance, life assurance, and ownership of commercial and
undeveloped property.
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Portfolio review
(2% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2012 (cont’d)

AFRICAN BANK INVESTMENTS LTD
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
JSE Securities Exchange, Johannesburg, South Africa
ABL SJ
810.2 million
26.1 billion ZAR
www.africanbank.co.za
US$1,781,163
US$2,407,512
South African investment holding company with subsidiaries engaged in consumer
finance, furniture and electronic appliances retailing.

SEA TRUCKS GROUP CB 10% 2015
Instrument:
Currency of bonds:
Coupon:
Maturity:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Multi-Step Coupon Bond
US Dollars
Multi Step
1/31/2015
www.seatrucksgroup.com
US$2,155,499
US$2,115,750
Oil and gas marine contractor operating vessels that provide offshore installation,
accommodation and support services to the oil and gas industry in West Africa.

SHOPRITE HOLDINGS LTD (SA Register)
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
JSE Securities Exchange, Johannesburg, South Africa
SHP SJ
570.6 million
116.7 billion ZAR
www.shopriteholdings.co.za
(US$1,661,171)
(US$1,995,733)
South African investment holding company with subsidiaries operating in the
supermarket, produce distribution, furniture retailing and property holding industries in
16 countries.

STANDARD CHARTERED BANK GHANA
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

AOF

Ordinary Shares
Ghana Stock Exchange
SCB GN
115.5 million
1.3 billion GHS
www.standardchartered.com/gh
US$2,715,323
US$1,904,284
A provider of wholesale and consumer banking services in Ghana.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
(2% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2012 (cont’d)

SOCIETE DES CAOUTCHOUCS DE GRAND-BEREBY
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Bourse Regionale de Valuers Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
SOGC BC
2.2 million
143 billion CFA
N/A
US$742,087
US$1,454,315
Ivory Coast rubber and palm oil plantation operator.

LETSHEGO
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Botswana Stock Exchange
LETSHEGO BG
2,168 million
4.2 billion BWP
www.letshego.co.bw
US$1,261,917
US$1,390,509
Letshego provides financial loan products to government, quasi-government and private
sector employees.

SAPH (Societe Africaine de Plantations d’Heveas)
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Bourse Regionale de Valuers Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
SPHC BC
5.1 million
203.5 billion CFA Francs
N/A
US$733,851
US$1,343,900
Ivory Coast rubber plantation operator and latex processor.

BAYPORT MANAGEMENT 13% 2015
Instrument:
Currency of bonds:
Coupon:
Maturity:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Coupon Bond
Swedish Krona
13%
11/19/15
www.bayportfinance.com
US$1,044,815
US$1,124,433
Bayport provides financial loan products to government, quasi-government and private
sector employees.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
(2% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2012 (cont’d)

ISHARES SOUTH AFRICA INDEX FUND
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Exchange Traded Fund
NYSE Arca
EZA US
8.2 million
587.0 million
www.ishares.com
(US$952,774)
(US$1,226,900)
The fund consists of stocks primarily traded on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and
attempts to replicate the performance of the MSCI South Africa Index.

OLD MUTUAL PLC
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Zimbabwe Stock Exchange
OML ZH
4,895.1 million
7.4 billion USD
www.oldmutual.com
US$1,369,182
US$1,050,186
Largest African life insurance company, with asset management, property and casualty, and
banking operations across Africa, as well as Europe, the Americas, and Asia.

MASHONALAND HOLDINGS LTD
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

AOF

Ordinary Shares
Zimbabwe Stock Exchange
MASH ZH
1,859.1 million
48.3 million USD
www.masholdings.co.zw
US$813,202
US$928,902
Mashonaland Holdings Limited owns commercial property in the retail and office sectors
and undeveloped land, and is a property developer.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Qualitative risk disclosures for the Company

Introduction
Investment in Africa contains elements of risk. The qualitative risk disclosures section describes how the Company
manages the risk of loss of capital of the Group. Loss of capital may arise from market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, or
operational risk. Market risk comprises the possibility of loss of capital arising from movements in interest rates, equity
prices, or currencies against the US Dollar, the reporting currency of the Group. Credit risk, in turn, is the possibility of
loss of capital of the Group arising from a failure of the issuer of a debt instrument to repay the principal or interest of
that instrument in accordance with its contractual terms. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, even if it has adequate
capital resources, does not have enough financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due or can secure them at a
high cost. Operational risk is the possibility of the Group suffering from inadequate or failed internal processes, people,
systems or external events.

Market risk
African capital markets have suffered from high inflation, extreme depreciations (or appreciation) of African currencies
against the US Dollar, the effects of huge changes in the gross domestic product of a country because of that country’s
dependence on the export of one or two commodities, adverse weather conditions, severe power outages, unpredictable
regulatory frameworks and political disasters. It is difficult for the Company to design systems to protect itself against
such potential calamities. But, caution, judgment, experience and knowledge of the political economies of the different
African countries can mitigate the susceptibility of the Group to those dangers.
Where possible the Company does seek to limit its market risk. However, the menu of options are limited, as foreign
exchange controls, double digit nominal interest rates, small and illiquid stock markets, prohibitions on foreign
participation in local government debt markets, and the illegal nature of short selling characterize several African
economies. Consequently, the Company invests where possible in a variety of investment instruments and currencies
spread across the continent, and focuses upon nominal high yielding debt instruments, preferably with a real
inflation-adjusted return, and undervalued equities.
Although the Company seeks to create a concentrated investment portfolio, it has limits on the degree of concentration
of the portfolio as part of its market risk management strategy. At the time of an investment, no single investment may
exceed 15 percent of the net asset value of the Group without the prior approval of the Board. The Group may not make
an initial investment which will exceed 20 percent of the Company’s net asset value at the time of investment.

Credit risk
The Company aims to minimize its credit risk. The Company, through the Manager, seeks to manage credit risk by
ensuring that no single investment exceeds 15 percent of the net asset value of the Group without the prior approval of
the Board. In addition, the Manager seeks to extend credit to either credit worthy issuers or issuers issuing instruments
supported by adequate collateral.

Liquidity risk
The Company considers its current liquidity risk to be modest because it has sufficient financial resources to meet any
obligations and has not incurred any debt.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Qualitative risk disclosures for the Company (cont’d)

Operational risk
The Company seeks to limit the operational risks of the Group by dispersing oversight and control of its assets among
different institutions with a contractual duty to check each other. The records of the Company are maintained by an
administrator independent of the Manager, each director of the Manager, and each director of the Company. The assets
of the Group are entrusted to custodians which are independent of the Manager and the Company’s administrator.
Instructions to the custodian must be in writing and signed by a representative of the administrator and a representative
of the Manager. The administrator prepares written instructions for the disbursement of funds only after the submission
of actual invoices, in the case of expenses, by service providers to the Company or trade instructions in the case of
investments. Authorized trade instructions implemented by the administrator and the custodian lead to either the receipt
of securities by a custodian or the receipt of cash by a custodian when the Group sells a security. The custodian has backup
plans and offsite places to ensure an ability to conduct operations in the event of a disaster.

AOF
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Directors’ details

Robert C. Knapp - Chairman (46 years) (Non-independent, non-executive Chairman).
Mr. Knapp is a principal of Ironsides Partners LLC, a firm he founded in 2007. He worked for 10 years as a fund manager
at Millennium Partners, L.P. in New York. Mr. Knapp is a director of Africa Opportunity Partners, the investment
manager of AOF. He is also the lead independent director of MVC Capital, Inc., an investment company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Knapp specializes in emerging markets, natural resources, distressed debt, and closed end
fund arbitrage. He holds a BSc degree in engineering from Princeton University and a BA degree in Philosophy, Politics,
and Economics from Oxford University.
Francis Daniels (54 years) (Non-independent, non-executive director).
Mr. Daniels is a director of Africa Opportunity Partners, the investment manager of AOF. Mr. Daniels has more than
10 years of investing experience in Africa. He is a member of the boards of directors of TA Holdings Ltd., a Zimbabwean
stock-exchange listed company and Masawara PLC, an investment company traded on the AIM market of the London
Stock Exchange. Mr. Daniels is an attorney admitted to practice in the State of New York. He holds a LL.B degree from
the University of Ghana, a LL.M degree from the University of Toronto, a LL.M degree and a LL.M (Corporations)
degree from New York University Law School.
Christopher John Agar (52 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Agar is a director of Laxey Partners (UK)Limited. Laxey Partners is a regulated hedge fund specialising in global
discount arbitrage strategies and special situations. His career began when he joined de Zoete and Bevan in
1981 specializing in Research and Sales of Investment Trusts. De Zoete’s merged into BZW Ltd where he served as a
Director before moving to UBS Limited in 1992. Mr. Agar held various positions at UBS Limited: Executive Director of
Closed End Funds, Head of Sales, Research and IT prior to leaving in 2005. He is also currently a non-executive director
of Active Capital Trust PLC, Trading Emissions PLC, LPL UK 1 – 100 Ltd, and a partner in Spring Farm Partnership, a
farming and livestock company.
Myma Adwowa Belo-Osagie (59 years) (Non-executive director).
Dr Belo-Osagie is a member of the New York, Ghana and Nigeria Bars and is a member of the American Bar Association.
She is a practicing attorney and the Managing Partner in Udo, Udoma & Belo-Osagie, a leading Nigerian corporate law
firm. Dr. Belo-Osagie graduated from the University of Ghana with a LLB degree. She obtained a LLM degree and a SJD
degree from Harvard Law School.
Christopher Marcus Gradel (42 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Gradel is a Founder of Asian alternative investment management group PAG, and Managing Partner and CIO of
PAG’s Absolute Return business. Mr. Gradel has over 15 years of investment experience across Asia. Prior to founding
PAG, Mr. Gradel led several investments for the Marmon Group in China and was an engagement manager for
McKinsey & Co. based in Hong Kong. Mr. Gradel has a joint Masters in Engineering, Economics and Management from
Oxford University.
Shingayi Stanley Mutasa (54 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Mutasa is the chairman of TA Holdings, a Zimbabwean stock-exchange listed company and a member of the board
of directors of Masawara PLC. TA Holdings is a holding company with insurance, insurance brokerage, hotels, and
fertilizer operations. Masawara PLC is an investment company focused on acquiring interests in companies and projects
based in Zimbabwe and the southern Africa region. Mr. Mutasa graduated from the University of London with a
BA degree in Economics.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment company.
A review of the business of the Company is set forth in the Manager’s Report.

Results and dividend
The after tax gain for the period was US$1.7 million. The results of the Company for the period ended 31 December
2012 are set forth on page 27. Subject to having sufficient cash resources available for the purpose, AOF intends to pay
an aggregate annual dividend of an amount equal to the product of its net asset value on January 1 in each year multiplied
by the one year US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (as derived from Bloomberg) on that date, which amount will
be payable in four equal quarterly instalments in March, June, September and December of that year. During 2012 AOF
paid an aggregate dividend of $443,355 at a rate of $0.0026 per quarter or $0.0104 annually.

Status
The Company was incorporated with limited liability on 21 June 2007 and is registered in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company, under registration number MC-188243. As a closed-ended investment company, the Company is not
regulated as a mutual fund in the Cayman Islands and is not otherwise subject to regulatory review in its place of
incorporation. However, the Company is subject to the AIM Rules for Companies as published by the London Stock
Exchange from time to time.

Subsidiary companies and affiliates
The Company is the ultimate holding company of Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited, a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 22 June 2007 under registration number MC-189739, and is the principal limited partner of the
Africa Opportunity Fund L.P., an exempted limited partnership registered in the Cayman Islands on 25 June 2007 under
registration number MC-20466 (“the Limited Partnership”).

Share interests
Save as set out below, pursuant to notices delivered to us by such persons, the Directors are not aware of any person,
directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, interested in ten percent or more of the issued share capital of the Company:
Name
Advance Frontier Markets
Fund Limited
Lazard Asset Management LLC

Number of Shares

Percentage

10,754,212

25.23%

4,337,890

10.18%

Directors
The present members of the board of directors are listed on page 18.
The interests (all beneficial) of the current Directors and their connected persons in the ordinary shares of the Company
on 31 December 2012 are set out below:

AOF
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Report of the Directors (cont’d)

Name
Robert Knapp
Francis Daniels
Christopher Gradel
Christopher Agar
Myma Belo-Osagie

Number of Ordinary Shares

Percentage

8,313,000
2,112,827
250,000
100,000
100,000

19.50%
4.96%
0.59%
0.23%
0.23%

There have been no changes to the interests disclosed above between the year end and the date of this report.

The Manager
Africa Opportunity Partners Ltd. is the Company’s manager. It has been engaged under the terms of a management
agreement (the “Management Agreement”), effective from 18 July 2007. Robert Knapp and Francis Daniels (the
“Executive Team”) are directors of the Manager and are beneficially interested in the Manager. The Management
Agreement is terminable by either party on a minimum of one year’s notice expiring on or at any time after the fourth
anniversary of the effective date of the Management Agreement.
The Manager is entitled to a management fee equal to ¼ of 2 percent of the quarterly net asset value of the Company
payable in US Dollars quarterly in advance. In addition, through their beneficial interests in AOF CarryCo Ltd., one of
the limited partners of the Limited Partnership, the Executive Team is entitled to an annual aggregate carried interest from
the Limited Partnership equivalent to 20 percent of the excess of the net asset value (as at December 31 in each year) over
the sum of (i) the annual management fee for that year and (ii) a non-compounding hurdle amount equal to the net asset
value as at 31 December in the previous year, as increased by the one year US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (as
derived from Bloomberg) calculated on that date. The carried interest is subject to a “catch up” and a “high watermark”
requirement. Details of fees paid and payable can be found in note 14 in the Notes to the Accounts on page 50.

Corporate Governance
There is no applicable regime of corporate governance to which directors of a Cayman Island company must adhere over
and above the general fiduciary duties and duties of care, diligence and skill imposed on such directors under Cayman
Island law. However, the directors recognize the value of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the
Financial Reporting Council in June 2006 and will take appropriate measures to ensure that the Company complies, as
far as is practicable and to the extent appropriate given the Company’s assets, liabilities and other relevant information.
Since all Directors are non-executive, the principles of the Combined Code in respect of executive directors’ remuneration
are not applicable and, accordingly, the Board of Directors of the Company has not appointed a remuneration committee
as it is satisfied that any relevant issues can be properly considered by the Board as a whole.
However, the Company has established a Management Engagement Committee which meets formally at least on an
annual basis to consider the performance and the remuneration of the Manager. The Management Engagement
Committee comprises all the members of the Board other than Robert Knapp and Francis Daniels. Christopher Agar is
the chairman of this committee.
The Company has also established an Audit Committee which comprises all the members of the Board other than Robert
Knapp and Francis Daniels. Chris Gradel has been appointed the chairman of the audit committee. The Audit Committee
meets at least three times in each twelve month period.
The Management Agreement sets out the matters over which the Manager has authority and the limits above which Board
approval must be sought.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Report of the Directors (cont’d)

The Board meets at least four times a year and receives full details of the Company’s assets, liabilities, and other relevant
information in advance of meetings. Directors may seek independent professional advice on any matter that concerns
them, at the expense of the Company, in furtherance of their duties.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group’s financial statements in accordance with
applicable Cayman Islands law and regulations. Cayman Island company law requires the Directors to prepare Group
financial statements for each financial year. Pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies, the Group is required to prepare
group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and have elected to
prepare the Group financial statements on that basis.
The financial statements are required by law and IFRS to present fairly the financial position of the Group and the
financial performance and cash-flows of the Group for the relevant period.
In preparing the Group financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•
•
•
•
•

•

Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
Make judgments and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
State whether the financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained therein;
Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner which provides relevant, reliable, comparable, and
understandable information;
Provide additional disclosures where compliance with the specific requirements of IFRS are considered to be
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, events and conditions on the
financial position and performance;
Prepare financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group or
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with IFRS and
all applicable company law. The Directors also have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably available
to them, and for ensuring their third party service providers take similar reasonable steps, to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent or detect fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ Confirmation
The Directors listed on page 18, being the persons responsible within the Company, hereby confirm to the best of
their knowledge:
•
•

AOF

That the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company; and
The Chairman’s Statement and Manager’s Report collectively comprise the Management Report and includes a fair
review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with the
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Corporate Data (cont’d)
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Independent Auditors’ report

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
on pages 27 to 62 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31 2012, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements on pages 27 to 62 present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Group at December 31, 2012 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members, as a body and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

ERNST & YOUNG
Ebène, Mauritius

LI KUNE LAN POOKIM, A.C.A, F.C.C.A
Licensed by FRC

Date: 24 June 2013
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Notes
Income
Interest revenue
Dividend revenue
Net gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
Other income
Net foreign exchange gain

2012
USD

2011
USD

6

499,088
2,290,379

623,513
1,765,815

7(c)
12

1,179,622
-

270,728
294,353

3,969,089

2,954,409

5

783,329

797,020

7(c)

394,126
302,410
268,509
190,792
130,766
80,000
51,003

590,098
311,590
204,383
47,865
49,345
80,000
43,861

2,200,935

2,124,162

Profit before tax
Withholding tax

1,768,154
54,798

830,247
120,075

Profit after tax
Other comprehensive income

1,713,356
-

710,172
-

Total comprehensive income for the year

1,713,356

710,172

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non controlling interest

1,692,704
20,652

697,435
12,737

1,713,356

710,172

0.0397

0.0164

Expenses
Management fee
Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
Brokerage fees and commissions
Net foreign exchange loss
Custodian, secretarial and administration fees
Dividend expense on securities sold not yet purchased
Other operating expenses
Directors’ fees
Audit fees

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
equity holders of the Company during the year

13

The notes on pages 31 to 62 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent Auditors’ report is on page 26.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2012

Notes

2012
USD

2011
USD

9
8
7(a)

3,633,587
600,158
42,159,300

783,953
524,088
42,449,713

46,393,045

43,757,754

385,910
110,839
4,545,885

187,869
76,735
3,412,740

5,042,634

3,677,344

426,303
38,262,525
2,367,924

426,303
38,705,880
675,220

Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Non controlling interest

41,056,752
293,659

39,807,403
273,007

Total equity

41,350,411

40,080,410

Total equity and liabilities

46,393,045

43,757,754

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Dividend payable
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

11
17
7(b)

Total Liabilities
EQUITY
Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings

10

Approved by the Board on 24 June 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

Director

Director

The notes on pages 31 to 62 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent Auditors’ report is on page 26.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2012

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Notes

Share
capital
USD

Share
premium
USD

Retained Earnings
USD

Non
controlling
interest
USD

Total
USD

At 1 January 2011

426,303

39,012,818

Profit for the year

-

-

697,435

697,435

12,737

710,172

Other comprehensive
income

-

-

-

-

-

-

Dividend

17

At 31 December 2011

-

(306,938)

(22,215) 39,416,906

Total
equity
USD

-

(306,938)

-

(306,938)

426,303

38,705,880

Profit for the year

-

-

1,692,704

1,692,704

20,652

1,713,356

Other comprehensive
income

-

-

-

-

-

-

Dividend

17

At 31 December 2012

-

(443,355)

426,303 38,262,525

675,220 39,807,403

260,270 39,677,176

-

(443,355)

2,367,924 41,056,752

The notes on pages 31 to 62 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent Auditors’ report is on page 26.
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273,007 40,080,410

-

(443,355)

293,659 41,350,411

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Notes
Operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustment for non cash items:
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Realised gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Unrealised loss/(gain) on financial liabilities held for trading
Realised loss/(gain) on financial liabilities held for trading
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents

1,713,356

7(a)

(402,503)

7(a)
7(b)
7(b)

(1,794,594)
616,120
401,355
302,410

Cash generated from operating activities

836,144

Net changes in operating assets and liabilities
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Proceeds on derecognition of financial liabilities held for trading
Purchase of financial liabilities held for trading
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities
Financing activities
Dividend paid

17

Net cash flow used in financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2012
USD

9

2011
USD
710,172

1,354,903
(8,607)
(597,169)
(159,029)
(231,549)
1,068,721

(9,901,868)

(13,113,900)

12,489,663
2,612,418
(2,496,748)
(76,070)
97,756

10,641,593
1,504,345
(3,386,809)
168,220
(1,514,942)

2,725,151

(5,701,493)

(409,251)

(306,938)

(409,251)

(306,938)

3,152,044
(302,410)
783,953

(4,939,710)
231,549
5,492,114

3,633,587

783,953

The notes on pages 31 to 62 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent Auditors’ report is on page 26.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 december 2012

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (the “Company”) was admitted to trading on the AIM Market (“AIM”) of
the London Stock Exchange plc in July 2007.
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited is a closed-ended fund incorporated with limited liability and registered in
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law on 21 June 2007, with registered number MC-188243.
The Company aims to achieve capital growth and income through investment in value, arbitrage, and special
situations investments in the continent of Africa. The Company therefore may invest in securities issued by
companies domiciled outside Africa which conduct significant business activities within Africa. The Company
has the ability to invest in a wide range of asset classes including real estate interests, equity, quasi-equity or
debt instruments and debt issued by African sovereign states and government entities.
The Company’s investment activities are managed by Africa Opportunity Partners Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and acting as the investment manager pursuant to an
Investment Management Agreement dated 18 July 2007.
To ensure that investments to be made by the Company, and the returns generated on the realisation of
investments, are both effected in the most tax efficient manner, the Company has established Africa
Opportunity Fund L.P. as an exempted limited partnership in the Cayman Islands. All investments made by
the Company are made through the limited partnership. The limited partners of the limited partnership are
the Company and AOF CarryCo Limited. The general partner of the limited partnership is Africa
Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited.
The consolidated financial statements for the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 were
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 24 June 2013.

Presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“USD”).

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied from the prior year to the current year for items
which are considered material in relation to the consolidated financial statements.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 december 2012

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Board of Directors to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company and
its subsidiaries’ (referred to as the “Group”) accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2012.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control
and continues to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using
consistent accounting policies.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full.
Non controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented
separately in the statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the statement of changes in equity from
parent shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in USD which is the Company’s functional currency. That
is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. The functional currency of the entities within the Group is USD. The
Group chose USD as the presentation currency.

(ii)

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the date of
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency spot rate of the exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Financial instruments
(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 into the following categories:
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 december 2012

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The category of the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss is subdivided into:

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling and repurchasing in the
near term. This category includes equity securities, investments in managed funds and debts instruments. These assets
are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short term fluctuation in price. All derivatives and
liabilities from the short sales of financial instruments are classified as held for trading.

Options
Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser either to buy or
sell a specific amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any time within a
specified period.
The Group purchases and sells put and call options through regulated exchanges and OTC markets. Options
purchased by the Fund provide the Fund with the opportunity to purchase (call options) or sell (put options) the
underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either on or before the expiration of the option. The Group is exposed to
credit risk on purchased options only to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value.
Options written by the Group provide the purchaser the opportunity to purchase from or sell to the Group the
underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either on or before the expiration of the option.
Options are generally settled on a net basis.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon
initial recognition
These include equity securities and debt instruments that are not held for trading. These financial assets are designated
on the basis that they are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and have their performance evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with risk management and investment strategies of the Group, as set out in the
Group’s offering document. The financial information about the financial assets is provided internally on that basis to
the Investment Manager and to the Board of Directors.
The vast majority of the financial assets are expected to be realised within 12 months of the reporting date.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivatives financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash
equivalents’ in the statement of financial position.

Other financial liabilities
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss.
The Group includes in this category amounts relating to trade and other payables and dividend payable.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 december 2012

(ii)

Recognition
The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established
by regulation or convention in the market place are recognised directly on the trade date, i.e., the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

(iii) Initial measurement
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss.
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair
value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract, and the
host contract is not itself classified as held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables and financial liabilities (other than those classified as held for trading) are measured
initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.
(iv)

Subsequent measurement
After initial measurement, the Group measures financial instruments which are classified as at fair value
through profit or loss at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are
recorded in ‘Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’. Interest
earned and dividend revenue elements of such instruments are recorded separately in ‘Interest revenue’ and
‘Dividend revenue’, respectively. Dividend expenses related to short positions are recognised in ‘Dividends
on securities sold not yet purchased’.
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but does not consider future credit
losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
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(v)

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognised where:
•
•

•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and
Either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset.
The Group derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Determination of fair value
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted price
or binding dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs.
For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate
valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the
current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models making as much use of available and supportable market data as possible.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets classified as loans
and receivables is impaired. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor, or a group of debtors,
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and, where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 december 2012

Impaired debts, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent period, the
amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. If a previous write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or loss.
Interest revenue on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
This item includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading or designated upon initial
recognition as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ and excludes interest and dividend income and expenses.
Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the period and from reversal
of prior period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which were realised in the reporting period.
Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments classified as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ are
calculated using the Average Cost (AVCO) method. They represent the difference between an instrument’s initial
carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash payments or receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding payments
or receipts on collateral margin accounts for such instruments).

Due to and due from brokers
Amounts due to brokers are payables for securities purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have been contracted
for but not yet delivered on the reporting date. Refer to the accounting policy for financial liabilities, other than those
classified as at fair value through profit or loss for recognition and measurement.
Amounts due from brokers include margin accounts and receivables for securities sold (in a regular way transaction)
that have been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date. Refer to accounting policy for loans and
receivables for recognition and measurement.

Interest revenue and expense
Interest revenue and expense are recognised in profit or loss for all interest-bearing financial instruments using the
effective interest method.

Dividend revenue and expense
Dividend revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. Dividend revenue is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in profit or loss. Dividend
expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment
is established.
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Stated capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Provision
A provision is recognised when and only when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow embodying economic benefits will be required to settle that obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if they
have the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the Group or exercise significant influence over the Group in making
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group is subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
New and amended standards and interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the following new
and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations effective as of 1 January 2012:
•
•
•

IAS 12 Income Taxes (Amendment) – Deferred Taxes: Recovery of Underlying Assets
IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (Amendment) – Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-Time Adopters
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements

IAS 12 Income Taxes (Amendment) – Deferred Taxes: Recovery of Underlying Assets
The amendment clarified the determination of deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value and
introduces a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment property measured using the fair value model in
IAS 40 should be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale. It includes the
requirement that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets that are measured using the revaluation model in IAS 16
should always be measured on a sale basis. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2012 and has had no effect on the Group’s financial position, performance or its disclosures.
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IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
(Amendment) – Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-Time Adopters
The IASB provided guidance on how an entity should resume presenting IFRS financial statements when its
functional currency ceases to be subject to hyperinflation. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2011. The amendment had no impact to the Group.
The adoption of the standards or interpretations is described below:

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Enhanced Derecognition
Disclosure Requirements
The amendment requires additional disclosure about financial assets that have been transferred but not derecognised
to enable the user of the Group’s financial statements to understand the relationship with those assets that have not
been derecognised and their associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires disclosures about the entity’s
continuing involvement in derecognised assets to enable the users to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with,
such involvement. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. The Group does
not have any assets with these characteristics so there has been no effect on the presentation of its financial statements.
Standards issued but not yet effective
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial
statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – Amendments to IAS 1
The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income (OCI). Items that
will never be reclassified (or ‘recycled’) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, actuarial gains and losses
on defined benefit plans and revaluation of land and buildings) would be presented separately from items that could
be reclassified (for example, net gain on hedge of net investment, exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets). The
amendment affects presentation only and has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. The
amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012, and will therefore be applied in
the Group’s first annual report after becoming effective.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised)
The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19. These range from fundamental changes such as removing the
corridor mechanism and the concept of expected returns on plan assets to simple clarifications and re-wording. This
amendment does have any impact on the financial performance or position of the Group. The amendment becomes
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 28
Investments in Associates, has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the
application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The revised standard becomes
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. This amendment has no effect on the Group.
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IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Amendments to IAS 32
These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off”. The amendments also
clarify the application of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which
apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. This amendment is not expected to impact the Group’s
financial position or performance and becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

IFRS 1 Government Loans – Amendments to IFRS 1
These amendments require first-time adopters to apply the requirements of IAS 20 Accounting for Government
Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, prospectively to government loans existing at the date of transition
to IFRS. Entities may choose to apply the requirements of IFRS 9 (or IAS 39, as applicable) and IAS 20 to government
loans retrospectively if the information needed to do so had been obtained at the time of initially accounting for that
loan. The exception would give first-time adopters relief from retrospective measurement of government loans with a
below-market rate of interest. The amendment is effective for annual periods on or after 1 January 2013. The
amendment has no impact on the Group.

IFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities —
Amendments to IFRS 7
These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and related arrangements
(e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect
of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply
to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. These amendments will not impact the Group’s
financial position or performance and become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
The overall effect of the amendments is to reduce the circumstances in which the recoverable amount of assets or
cash-generating units is required to be disclosed, clarify the disclosures required, and to introduce an explicit
requirement to disclose the discount rate used in determining impairment (or reversals) where recoverable amount
(based on fair value less costs of disposal) is determined using a present value technique. The amendments apply
on a retrospective basis for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. These amendments will not impact
the Group’s financial position or performance.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The standard was
initially effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but Amendments to IFRS 9 Mandatory
Effective Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures, issued in December 2011, moved the mandatory effective date
to 1 January 2015. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of financial
assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the
Group’s financial assets, but will not have an impact on classification and measurements of financial liabilities. The
Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when the final standard including all phases
is issued.

AOF

Annual Report and Accounts

39

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 december 2012

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting
for consolidated financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities.
IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes
introduced by IFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are
controlled and therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the requirements that were in
IAS 27. Based on the preliminary analyses performed, IFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact on the currently
held investments of the Group.
This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 10 Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)
The application guidance to IFRS 10 clarifies that an entity must consider all facts and circumstances when
assessing whether it is an investment entity, including its purpose and design. An entity must meet all three elements
of the definition to be an investment entity to obtain exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements.
In other words, it does not consolidate its subsidiaries and does not apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations when it
obtains control of an entity. Instead, an investment entity is required to measure subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. However, if an investment entity has a subsidiary that provides
investment-related services, such as investment management services, to the entity or other parties, then the
investment entity must consolidate its subsidiary. The amendment applies for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014, with earlier application permitted.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-monetary
Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using
proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using
the equity method.
This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and is to be applied
retrospectively for joint arrangements held at the date of initial application. This standard has no effect on
the Group.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial statements,
as well as all of the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28. These disclosures relate to an
entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities.
A number of new disclosures are also required, but has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.
This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
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IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not
change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under
IFRS when fair value is required or permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact that this standard will
have on the financial position and performance, but based on the preliminary analyses, no material impact is
expected. This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
This interpretation applies to waste removal (stripping) costs incurred in surface mining activity, during the
production phase of the mine. The interpretation addresses the accounting for the benefit from the stripping
activity. The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The new
interpretation will not have an impact on the Group.

IFRIC 21 Levies
The interpretation clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as
identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. It also clarifies that a levy liability is accrued progressively only if the
activity that triggers payment occurs over a period of time, in accordance with the relevant legislation. For a levy
that is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be
recognised before the specified minimum threshold is reached. The interpretation is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with early application permitted. Retrospective application of this
interpretation is required. The new interpretation will not have an impact on the Group.
Annual Improvements May 2012
These improvements will not have an impact on the Group, but include:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
This improvement clarifies that an entity that stopped applying IFRS in the past and chooses, or is required, to
apply IFRS, has the option to re-apply IFRS 1. If IFRS 1 is not re-applied, an entity must retrospectively restate its
financial statements as if it had never stopped applying IFRS.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
This improvement clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and the minimum
required comparative information. Generally, the minimum required comparative information is the previous period.

IAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment
This improvement clarifies that major spare parts and servicing equipment that meet the definition of property,
plant and equipment are not inventory.
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IAS 32 Financial Instruments, Presentation
This improvement clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to equity holders are accounted for in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes.

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
The amendment aligns the disclosure requirements for total segment assets with total segment liabilities in interim
financial statements. This clarification also ensures that interim disclosures are aligned with annual disclosures.
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial statements and disclosure of contingent
liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Going Concern
The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.
Determination of functional currency
The determination of the functional currency of the Group is critical since recording of transactions and exchange
differences arising thereon are dependent on the functional currency selected. As described in Note 2, the directors
have considered those factors therein and have determined that the functional currency of the Group is the
United States Dollar.

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the
financial statements were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected
in the assumptions when they occur.
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Fair value of financial instruments
When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the
use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. The estimates include considerations of liquidity
and model inputs such as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), correlation and volatility. Changes in assumptions
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments in the statement of financial position
and the level where the instruments are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy. The models are calibrated regularly and
tested for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions in the same instrument (without
modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market data. IFRS 7 requires disclosures relating to
fair value measurements using a three-level fair value hierarchy. The level within which the fair value measurement is
categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety.
Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.
To assess the significance of a particular input to the entire measurement, the Group performs sensitivity analysis or
stress testing techniques.

5.

AGREEMENTS
Investment Management Agreement
Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Company appointed Africa Opportunity Partners Limited (the
“Investment Manager”), an investment management company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, to manage the
operations of the Group subject to the overall supervision of the Group’s board as specified in the AIM admission
document of the Company.
Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Manager is paid a management fee which is equal to one quarter
of 2 percent of the quarterly NAV which is payable in US Dollars quarterly in advance on the first Business Day of
each quarter.
The management fee for the financial year under review amounts to USD 783,329 (2011: USD 797,020).

Administrative Agreement
International Proximity has been appointed to provide various administrative services to the Company and received
an aggregate fee of USD 43,568 (2011: USD 36,000) payable by the Company for administrative and certain
secretarial services for the Group.

Custodian Agreement
A Custodian Agreement has been entered into by the Company and Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius) Ltd,
whereby Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius) Ltd would provide custodian services to the Company and would be
entitled to a custody fee of between 18 and 25 basis points per annum of the value of the assets held by the customer
and a tariff of between 10 and 45 basis points per annum of the value of assets held by the custodian. The custodian
fees for the financial year under review amounts to USD 123,853 (2011: USD 101,509).
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Prime Brokerage Agreement
Under the Prime Brokerage Agreement, the Company appointed Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC as its prime
broker for the purpose of carrying out the Company’s instructions with respect to the purchase, sale and settlement of
securities. The fees charged for the financial year under review amounts to USD 197,234 (2011: USD 170,198).

Broker Agreement
Under the Broker Agreement, the Company appointed LCF Edmond Rothschild Securities Limited (“LCFR”), a
company incorporated in England and Wales to act as Broker to the Group.
Under the Broker Agreement, the Company paid to LCFR a fee of USD 60,914 (2011: USD 32,684) for the financial
year under review. The broker fee is payable in advance at six month intervals.

Nominated Advisor
Under the engagement letter, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance is engaged to act as Nominated Advisor to
the Group.
A retainer fee amounting to USD 27,190 (2011: USD 28,315) was paid to the nominated advisor for the financial
year ended 31 December 2012. The retainer fee is payable quarterly in advance.
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6.

7.

INTEREST REVENUE

Interest on bonds
Other interest income

2012
USD
496,968
2,120

2011
USD
623,513
-

Total interest revenue

499,088

623,513

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

7(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2012
USD

2011
USD

42,449,714
10,002,153
(10,695,070)
402,503

41,323,702
13,113,900
(10,632,986)
(1,354,903)

At 31 December (at fair value)

42,159,300

42,449,713

Analysed as follows:
- Listed equity securities3
- Listed debt securities
- Unlisted equity securities
- Unlisted debt securities

35,919,415
4,403,959
1,025,122
810,804

32,435,424
7,514,040
2,300,249
200,000

42,159,300

42,449,713

Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
At 1 January
Additions2
Disposals
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Net changes on fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Realised
Unrealised

2012
USD
1,794,594
402,503

2011
USD
8,607
(1,354,903)

Total gains/(losses)

2,197,097

(1,346,296)

2
3

AOF

of the USD 10,002,153 relating to the acquisition of financial assets, USD 100,285 pertains to unsettled trades and this was
including in “trade and other payables”
including securities lent and securities pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements
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7(b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Written call options
Written put options
Listed equity securities sold short

2012
USD
153,200
472,580
3,920,105

2011
USD
46,250
3,366,490

Financial liabilities held for trading

4,545,885

3,412,740

Net changes on fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Realised
Unrealised
Total (losses)/gains

2012
USD
(401,355)
(616,120)

2011
USD
159,029
597,169

(1,017,475)

756,198

7(c) Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Net gains/(losses) on fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Net (losses)/gains on fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
Net gains/(losses)

2012
USD

2011
USD

2,197,097

(1,346,296)

(1,017,475)

756,198

1,179,622

(590,098)

7(d) Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of the financial instruments
by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on
observable market data.
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Assets measured at fair value – 2012

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss:
Equities
Debt securities
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

31 December
2012
USD

Level 1
USD

36,944,537
5,214,763

35,919,415
-

1,025,122
4,678,959

535,804

42,159,300

35,919,415

5,704,081

535,804

4,545,885

3,920,105

625,780

-

31 December
2011
USD

Level 1
USD

34,735,673
7,714,040

Level 2
USD

Level 3
USD

Assets measured at fair value – 2011

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss:
Equities
Debt securities
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Level 2
USD

Level 3
USD

32,435,424
-

2,300,249
7,514,040

200,000

42,449,713

32,435,424

9,814,289

200,000

3,412,740

3,366,490

46,250

-

The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial instruments categorised
within Level 3 between the beginning and the end of the reporting period.
2012
USD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Opening balance
Additions
Disposals
Net transfers out of level 3
Net transfers in level 3
Closing balance
Total gains and losses included in profit or loss for assets held at the end
of the reporting period
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200,000
(200,000)
535,804

2011
USD
1,588,916
(1,263,933)
(124,983)
-

535,804

200,000

(890,421)

(21,486)

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
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The transfer from level 3 to level 2 was made given that the recent transaction price has been used to arrive at the
fair value.
The transfer from level 2 to level 3 was made due to a change in valuation methodology from brokers’ quotes
derived in an active market for similar instruments to unobservable market inputs.
Fair value would not vary significantly if changing one or more of the inputs.4

8.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Interest receivable on bonds
Dividend receivable
Other receivable

2012
USD
275,874
317,359
6,925

2011
USD
321,369
202,719
-

600,158

524,088

2012
USD
130,876
108,824
6,528
3,387,359

2011
USD
58,360
331,932
1,171
392,490

3,633,587

783,953

Interest receivable on bonds is due within six months.

9.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Account with Custodian
Other cash accounts
Call deposit accounts
Other bank accounts

10. SHARE CAPITAL
2012
Number
Authorised share capital
Ordinary shares with a par value
of USD 0.01

2012
USD

2011
Number

2011
USD

1,000,000,000

10,000,000

1,000,000,000

10,000,000

Share capital
At 1 January

42,630,327

426,303

42,630,327

426,303

At 31 December

42,630,327

426,303

42,630,327

426,303

The directors have the general authority to repurchase the ordinary shares in issue subject to the Company having
funds lawfully available for the purpose. However, if the market price of the ordinary shares falls below the Net
Asset Value, the directors will consult with the Investment Manager as to whether it is appropriate to instigate a
repurchase of the ordinary shares.
4

During the current year, on closer inspection of the determination of fair values, it was determined that the written options
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are in fact classified as Level 2 and not Level 1 instruments. The prior year
disclosure has been updated to reflect this classification.
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11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accrued expenses
Other payables

2012
USD
285,625
100,285

2011
USD
91,979
95,890

385,910

187,869

Other payables and accrued expenses are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.

12. OTHER INCOME
Other income for the current year is nil (2011: USD 270,728). 2011’s income primarily represents a fee equal to
2.5% of the amounts realised from the tender offer pool to compensate the existing (“continuing”) shareholders for
the higher proportion of fixed costs that would bear following the decision of some of the investors to exit.
The majority of the remaining 2011 balance relates to a bookkeeping adjustment required to accurately assign the
proceeds of investments realised as part of the tender offer pool distribution. The non-controlling interest in the
tender offer pool was allocated pro-rata between the exiting shareholders and the continuing shares. Since the
non-controlling interests remained fully invested in the fund, it had been necessary to make a compensating
adjustment to the final distribution of the tender offer pool.

13. EARNING PER SHARE
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares purchased by the
Company and held as treasury shares.
The Company’s diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share, since the Company has not issued
any instrument with dilutive potential.
2012
Earnings attributable to equity holders of the Group

USD

Weighted average number of ordinary share in issue
Earnings per share

AOF
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2011

1,692,704

697,435

42,630,327

42,630,327

0.0397

0.0164
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14. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The Directors consider Africa Opportunity Fund Limited as the ultimate holding company of Africa Opportunity
Fund (GP) Limited and Africa Opportunity Fund L.P.
The financial statements include the financial statements of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited and its subsidiaries
as follows:
Name

Country of
incorporation

Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited
Africa Opportunity Fund L.P.

Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands

% equity interest
2012

% equity interest
2011

100
99.05

100
99.12

During the period ended 31 December 2012, the Company transacted with related entities. The nature, volume
and type of transactions with the entities are as follows:

Name of related parties
Africa Opportunity Partners Limited

Type of
Nature of
relationship
transaction
Investment Management fee
Manager
expense

Volume
USD
783,329

Balance at
31 Dec 2012
USD
189,785

During the period ended 31 December 2011, the Company transacted with related entities. The nature, volume
and type of transactions with the entities are as follows:

Name of related parties
Africa Opportunity Partners Limited

Type of
Nature of
relationship
transaction
Investment Management fee
Manager
expense

Volume
USD
797,020

Balance at
31 Dec 2011
USD
-

Key Management Personnel (Directors’ fee)
Except for Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp who have waived their fees, each director has been paid a fee of USD
20,000 per annum plus reimbursement for out-of pocket expenses.
Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp who are directors of the Company are also shareholders of the Investment Manager.
Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp who are directors of the Company also form part of the executive team of the
Investment Manager. Details of the agreement with the Investment Manager are disclosed in Note 5. They have a
beneficiary interest in AOF CarryCo Limited. The latter is entitled to carry interest computed in accordance with
the rules set out in the Admission Document. The total carried interest is 20%.
Details of investments in the Company by the Directors are set out below:

2012
2011

No of shares held

Direct interest held
%

10,875,827
10,875,827

25.51
25.51

50

AOF Annual Report and Accounts

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 december 2012

15. TAXATION
Under the current laws of Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, transfer sales or other Cayman Islands taxes
payable by the Company. As a result, no provision for income taxes has been made in the financial statements.
Dividend revenue is presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in the
statement of comprehensive income.

16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Introduction
The Group’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the
Group’s activities. It is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject
to risks limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability.
The Group is exposed to market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk arising from the financial instruments it holds.

Risk management structure
The Group’s Investment Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Board of Directors
supervises the Investment Manager and is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach of
the Group.
Fair value
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are restated to fair value at
the reporting date. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents other payables
and accrued expenses equals their fair value due to their short term nature.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices and includes interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk.
The maximum risk resulting from financial instruments, except for written options and securities sold short, equals
their fair value.
Short selling involves borrowing securities and selling them to a broker-dealer. The Group has an obligation to
replace the borrowed securities at a later date. Short selling allows the Group to profit from a decline in market
price to the extent that such decline exceeds the transaction costs and the costs of borrowing the securities, while
the gain is limited to the price at which the Fund sold the security short.
Possible losses from short sales may be unlimited as the Group has an obligation to repurchase the security in the
market at prevailing prices at the date of acquisition.
With written options, the Group bears the market risk of an unfavourable change in the price of the security
underlying the option. Exercise of an option written by the Group could result in the Group selling or buying a
security at a price significantly different from its fair value.
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The Group’s financial assets are susceptible to market risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the
instruments. Since all securities investments present a risk of loss of capital, the Investment Manager moderates this
risk through a careful selection of securities and other financial instruments. The Group’s overall market positions
are monitored on a daily basis by the Investment Manager.
In determining the change in equity prices, currency rate and interest rate, directors have based themselves on past
performance, current and future economic conditions.
Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in the levels of the equity
indices and the values of individual stocks. The trading equity risk arises from the Group’s investment portfolio.
The equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investments in equity securities, from equity securities sold
short and from equity-linked derivatives. The Group manages this risk by investing in a variety of stock exchanges
and by generally limiting exposure to a single industry sector to 15% of NAV.
Management’s best estimate of the effect on the profit or loss for a year due to a reasonably possible change in equity
indices, with all other variables held constant is indicated in the table below. There is no effect on ‘other
comprehensive income’ as the Group has no assets classified as ‘available-for-sale’ or designated hedging
instruments. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference
could be material. An equivalent decrease in each of the indices shown below would have resulted in an equivalent,
but opposite, impact.
Equity Price Risk – 2012
Change in
equity
price
2012
30%
-30%

Effect on
profit for
the year
USD
722,254
(722,254)

Continental Reinsurance Plc

30%
-30%

137,378
(137,378)

-

Copperbelt Energy Corporation Plc

30%
-30%

198,785
(198,785)

-

Enterprise Group Ltd

30%
-30%

862,758
(862,758)

-

iShare South Africa Index Fund

30%
-30%

(322,110)
322,110

-

Kosmos Energy Limited

30%
-30%

133,380
(133,380)

-

Kumba Iron Ore

30%
-30%

(201,150)
201,150

-

Stock
Africa Bank Investments Ltd
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Change in
equity
price
2012
30%
-30%

Effect on
profit for
the year
USD
417,153
(417,153)

Mashonaland Holdings Ltd

30%
-30%

278,671
(278,671)

-

Offshore Accommodation IS

30%
-30%

125,652
(125,652)

-

Okomu Oil Palm Plc

30%
-30%

1,357,207
(1,357,207)

-

Old Mutual Plc

30%
-30%

315,056
(315,056)

-

Pallinghurst Resources Ltd

30%
-30%

176,448
(176,448)

-

Pearl Properties

30%
-30%

173,600
(173,600)

-

Societe Africaine de Plantations d’Heveas

30%
-30%

403,170
(403,170)

-

Shoprite Holdings – SA register

30%
-30%

(598,720)
598,720

-

Shoprite Plc (SHP ZL)

30%
-30%

2,431,587
(2,431,587)

-

Societe des Caoutchoucs de Grand-Bereby (SOGB)

30%
-30%

436,295
(436,295)

-

Sonatel

30%
-30%

1,486,313
(1,486,313)

-

Standard Chartered Bank/Ghana (SCB GN)

30%
-30%

571,285
(571,285)

-

Tanzania Breweries

30%
-30%

133,898
(133,898)

-

Triton Class B Preferred Shares

30%
-30%

174,380
(174,380)

-

Zimplats Holdings

30%
-30%

179,562
(179,562)

-

Stock
Letshego BG
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Equity Price Risk – 2011
Change in
equity
price
2011
30%
-30%

Effect on
profit for
the year
USD
781,461
(781,461)

AICO Africa Limited

30%
-30%

142,272
(142,272)

-

Enterprise Group Ltd

30%
-30%

570,158
(570,158)

-

Copperbelt Energy Corporation Plc

30%
-30%

203,158
(203,158)

-

Extract Resources Ltd

30%
-30%

391,224
(391,224)

-

iShare South Africa Index Fund

30%
-30%

(274,815)
274,815

-

Lyxor ETF STOXX Europe 600 Basic Resources

30%
-30%

(174,516)
174,516

-

Mashonaland Holdings Ltd

30%
-30%

187,542
(187,542)

-

Naspers

30%
-30%

459,347
(459,347)

-

Kumba Iron Ore

30%
-30%

(222,954)
222,954

-

Letshego

30%
-30%

282,435
(282,435)

-

Okomu Oil Palm PLC

30%
-30%

709,729
(709,729)

-

Pearl Properties

30%
-30%

131,562
(131,562)

-

SAPH

30%
-30%

833,453
(833,453)

-

Sea Trucks Group CB 10% 2015

30%
-30%

592,200
(592,200)

-

Shoprite Holdings (SHP ZL)

30%
-30%

2,385,290
(2,385,290)

-

Societe des Caoutchoucs de Grand-Bereby (SOGB)

30%
-30%

370,105
(370,105)

-

Sonatel

30%
-30%

1,211,138
(1,211,138)

-

Stock
African Bank Investments Ltd
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Change in
equity
price
2011
30%
-30%

Effect on
profit for
the year
USD
283,332
(283,332)

Tencent Holdings

30%
-30%

(337,661)
337,661

-

Zimplats Holdings

30%
-30%

250,119
(250,119)

-

Stock
Standard Chartered Bank/Ghana (SCB GN)

Effect on other
comprehensive
income
USD
-

Currency risk
The Group’s investments are denominated in various currencies as shown in the currency profile below.
Consequently, the Group is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the United States Dollar (USD) relative
to these various currencies may change in a manner which has a material effect on the reported values of its assets
denominated in those currencies. To manage its risks, the Company may enter into currency arrangements to hedge
currency risk if such arrangements are desirable and practicable.
The currency profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:

Australian Dollar
Botswana Pula
Canadian Dollar
CFA Franc
Euro
Egyptian Pound
Ghanaian Cedi
Great Britain Pound
Hong Kong Dollar
Mauritian Rupee
Nigerian Naira
Norwegian Kroner
South African Rand
Swedish Kroner
Tanzanian Shilling
United States Dollar
Zambian Kwacha
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2012
Financial
assets
USD

2012
Financial
liabilities
USD

2011
Financial
assets
USD

2011
Financial
liabilities
USD

862,813
1,390,509
586,329
8,148,861
(8,802,056)
137,465
4,788,161
59
(2,682)
4,981,950
162,261
2,532,762
1,218,309
446,328
20,866,769
9,075,207

2,846,405
2,196,229
-

2,191,892
941,451
2,033,955
8,751,583
(7,777,214)
2,854,283
2,606,306
(1,615)
375,605
2,419,727
4,510,784
657,936
1,302,149
14,123,954
8,766,958

581,721
1,125,538
743,181
1,226,904
-

46,393,045

5,042,634

43,757,754

3,677,344
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The sensitivity analysis shows how the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates against the US Dollar, the functional currency of the Group.
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a possible change in the USD against other currencies. The
percentage applied as sensitivity represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for the change in currency rates.
A positive number below indicates an increase in profit where the USD weakens against the other currencies. In
practice, actual results may differ from estimates and the difference can be material.
Year 2012
Effect on other
comprehensive
income
USD
-

Change in
currency
2012
30%
-30%

Effect on
profit
USD
417,153
(417,153)

Ghana Cedi

30%
-30%

1,436,448
(1,436,448)

-

Nigerian Naira

30%
-30%

1,494,585
(1,494,585)

-

Norwegian Krona

30%
-30%

48,732
(48,732)

-

South African Rand

30%
-30%

(94,903)
94,903

-

Tanzanian Shilling

30%
-30%

133,898
(133,898)

-

Zambian Kwacha

30%
-30%

2,722,562
(2,722,562)

-

CFA Franc

10%
-10%

814,886
(814,886)

-

Egyptian Pound

10%
-10%

13,752
(13,752)

-

Australian Dollar

5%
-5%

43,141
(43,141)

-

Canadian Dollar

5%
-5%

29,316
(29,316)

-

Euro

5%
-5%

(440,103)
440,103

-

Hong Kong Dollar

5%
-5%

(134)
134

-

Swedish Krona

5%
-5%

60,906
(60,906)

-

Currency
Botswana Pula
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Year 2011
Effect on other
comprehensive
income
USD
-

Change in
currency
2011
30%
-30%

Effect on
profit
USD
282,435
(282,435)

Nigerian Naira

30%
-30%

725,918
(725,918)

-

South African Rand

30%
-30%

1,130,281
(1,030,281)

-

Tanzanian Shilling

30%
-30%

390,645
(390,645)

-

Zambian Kwacha

30%
-30%

2,630,087
(2,630,087)

-

CFA Franc

10%
-10%

875,158
(875,158)

-

Mauritian Rupee

10%
-10%

37,560
(37,560)

-

Australian Dollar

5%
-5%

109,595
(109,595)

-

Canadian Dollar

5%
-5%

101,698
(101,698)

-

Euro

5%
-5%

(417,947)
417,947

-

Ghana Cedi

5%
-5%

142,714
(142,714)

-

Great British Pound

5%
-5%

130,315
(130,315)

-

Hong Kong Dollar

5%
-5%

(56,358)
56,358

-

Swedish Krona

5%
-5%

32,897
(32,897)

-

Currency
Botswana Pula

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values
of financial instruments. The fair values of the Group’s debt securities fluctuate in response to changes in market
interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases and increases in
fair values of those instruments.
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The investments in debt securities have fixed interest rate and the income and operating cash flows are not exposed
to interest rate risk. The change in fair value of investments based on a change in market interest rate (a 50 basis
points change) is not significant and has not been disclosed.
Credit Risk
Financial assets that potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist principally of investments in debt and equity
securities, cash balances and interest receivable. The extent of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in respect of these
financial assets approximates their carrying values as recorded in the Group’s statement of financial position.
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in
full when due. The Group’s main credit risk concentration is its debt securities which is classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss.
With respect to credit risk arising from financial assets which comprise of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these financial assets.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date was:
Notes

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

7(a)
8
9

2012
Carrying
amount

2011
Carrying
amount

USD
5,214,763
600,158
3,633,587

USD
7,714,040
524,088
783,953

The financial assets are neither past due nor impaired at reporting date. The cash and cash equivalent assets of the
Group are maintained with Standard Chartered Bank, PLC, Mauritius Branch (formerly Barclays Bank PLC,
Mauritius Branch). Standard Chartered Bank has an A1- issuer rating from Moody’s long term rating agency, a P-1
short term rating from Moody’s rating agency, an AA- issuer rating from Standard and Poor’s rating agency, and an
A-1+ short term rating from Standard and Poor’s rating agency. All other issuers of debt instruments owned by the
Group are unrated. The issuers of the unrated debt instruments owned by the Group are reputable companies
which do not envisage obtaining ratings, and have the ability to repay any debt or redeem any security as it falls
due or when required.
Concentration risk
At 31 December 2012, the Group held investments in Africa which involves certain considerations and risks not
typically associated with investments in other developed countries. Future economic and political developments in
Africa could affect the operations of the investee companies.
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Analysed by geographical distribution of underlying assets:
Bond & Notes
2012
Nigeria
Mauritius
Senegal
South Africa
Ghana
Angola
Equatorial Guinea
Sierra Leone

USD
2,115,750
1,124,433
701,169
535,804
275,000
236,210
226,397
-

571,820
3,589,053
200,000
2,498,527
854,640

Total

5,214,763

7,714,040

Zambia
Ghana
Nigeria
Senegal
South Africa
Ivory Coast
Zimbabwe
Botswana
Tanzania
Angola
Republic of Congo
Egypt
Namibia
Mauritius
Mozambique
Democratic Republic of Congo
Africa General

Equity
Securities
2012
USD
9,356,068
5,839,012
4,981,950
4,954,376
3,496,905
3,194,485
2,437,986
1,390,509
446,328
418,874
279,911
148,133
-

Equity
Securities
2011
USD
8,628,158
3,234,467
4,339,762
4,037,126
4,136,027
4,382,526
2,371,649
941,451
449,347
1,304,080
369,847
303,311
143,622
94,300

36,944,537

34,735,673

Total

AOF

Bond & Notes
2011
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Analysed by industry of underlying assets:
Bond and notes
2012
USD

Bond and notes
2011
USD

Analysed by industry:
Oil services industry
Mining industry
Consumer finance
Forestry
Oil exploration and production
Financial services

2,351,961
1,236,973
1,124,433
275,000
226,396
-

2,498,527
2,280,865
571,820
200,000
2,162,828

Total

5,214,763

7,714,040

Equity Securities
2012
USD
Analysed by industry:
Consumer products and services(*)
Plantations
Consumer finance
Telecommunications
Financial services
Real estate
Mining industry
Electricity transmission and generation
Forestry
Oil exploration and production
Oil services industry
Total

Equity Securities
2011
USD

9,427,903
7,322,238
5,710,323
4,954,376
4,383,975
1,507,567
1,505,818
662,615
606,249
444,600
418,873

8,795,871
6,377,621
4,869,923
5,662,584
1,900,528
1,063,679
3,088,026
677,192
326,249
1,974,000

36,944,537

34,735,673

(*) Included therein is an amount of USD 8,105,292 (2011: USD 7,950,966) relating to investment in Shoprite Holdings. The Company has a
significant position (19.74% of NAV) in Shoprite Holdings on the Zambian Register. Shoprite has conveyed its intention to seek to reverse trades
made on the Lusaka Stock Exchange. To date, no filing to the courts has been made by Shoprite. Management has been prudent and has fair
valued the investment in Shoprite at the price prevailing on the Lusaka stock exchange, instead of at higher prices prevailing on other stock
exchanges. Additionally, Shoprite has been placing dividend payments into escrow rather than distributing same to the shareholders. These
payments have been carried as a receivable amounting to USD 307,300 (2012: USD 112,205) in the Group’s books, without consideration for
accrued interest on the escrowed dividends.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows. The table below illustrates the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on
undiscounted payments.
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Year 2012

Due on
demand

Due
within
3 months

Due
between
3 and
12 months

Total

USD

USD

USD

USD

Financial liabilities
Dividend payable

110,839

-

-

110,839

Other payables

-

385,910

-

385,910

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

-

94,105

4,451,780

4,545,885

110,839

480,015

4,451,780

5,042,634

Total
USD

Total liabilities
Year 2011

Due on
demand

Due
within
3 months

Due
between
3 and
12 months

USD

USD

USD

Financial liabilities
Dividend payable

76,735

-

-

76,735

Other payables

-

187,869

-

187,869

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

-

-

3,412,740

3,412,740

76,735

187,869

3,412,740

3,677,344

Total liabilities

Capital Management
Total capital is treated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Company is a closed end fund and repurchase of shares in issue can be done with the consent of the Board of
Directors. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
The objectives for managing capital are:
•

AOF

To invest the capital in investment meeting the description, risk exposure and expected return indicated in
the Admission document.
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•

To achieve consistent capital growth and income through investment in value, arbitrate and special situations
opportunities derived from the African continent.

•

To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Group cost effective.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

17. DIVIDEND PAYMENT
The Company expressed in the Admission Document for the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange on which it is listed an intention, subject to having sufficient cash resources, to pay an aggregate annual
dividend of an amount equal to the product of the net asset value of the Company on January 01 in each year
multiplied by the three month US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (derived from Bloomberg) on the same
date, payable in four equal quarterly installments. However, the dividend payments made in 2011 and 2012 were
in excess of the basis stated in the Admission Document, as the Company utilises the one year US Dollar London
Interbank Offered Rate for the calculation of the dividend rate.

Dividend – payable
Dividend declared and paid
Dividend payable

Dividend per share

US cents

Opening balance – dividend payable
Additions
Payment
Closing balance

2012
USD

2011
USD

332,516
110,839

230,203
76,735

443,355

306,938

1.04

0.72

76,735
443,355
(409,251)

76,735
306,938
(306,938)

110,839

76,735

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised in one main operating segment, which invests in equity securities,
debt instruments and relative derivatives. All of the Group’s activities are interrelated, and each activity is dependent
on the others. Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Group as one segment.
The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Group as a whole.

19. PERSONNEL
The Group did not employ any personnel during the year (2011: the same).

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
There are no commitments or contingencies at the reporting date.

21. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There was no event after the reporting date which requires disclosures or adjustments to the financial statements.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Shareholder Information

Share Price
Prices of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited are published daily in the Daily Official List of the London Stock
Exchange. The shares trade under Reuters symbol “AOF.L” and Bloomberg symbol “AOF LN”.

Manager
Africa Opportunity Partners Limited.

Company Information
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited is a Cayman Islands incorporated closed-end investment company admitted
to trading on the AIM market operated by the London Stock Exchange and listed on the Channel Islands
Stock Exchange.

Capital structure
The Company has an authorized share capital of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each of which
42,630,327 are issued and fully paid.

Life of the Company
The Company does not have a fixed life, but the directors consider it desirable that its shareholders should have the
opportunity to review the future of the Company at appropriate intervals. The Directors will convene a general
meeting in 2014 where a resolution will be proposed that the Company will continue in existence. If the resolution
is not passed, the Directors will be required to formulate proposals to be put to shareholders to reorganize,
reconstruct or wind up the Company. If the resolution is passed, the Company will continue its operations and a
similar resolution will be put to shareholders every five years thereafter.

Registered Number
Registered in the Cayman Islands number MC-188243

Website
www.africaopportunityfund.com
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c/o International Proximity
608 St James Court, St Denis Street, Port Louis, Mauritius
+230 210 9000
www.africaopportunityfund.com

